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corporation chartered under the laws of the State of Maryland and authorized to do 
business in the State of Tennessee, for $5950. Knox County Archives. 

 
Needs’s Quarry is not listed in the 1850 census of manufactures. 

 173 The founding date for this company contradicted the 1853 date in the 
program listing for E.D. Dougherty (son of William Dougherty) at the 1876 Philadelphia 
Centennial. 
 



 174 The names of the quarry owners and dates of founding were as follows: 
Brown & Clark (1879); Johnson & Bro (1879); Edington & Co (1880); Currey & Boone 
(1879); R.H. Armstrong & Co (1880); East Tennessee Marble Co (1879); R.E. Edington & 
Bro (1870); Robt & John Edington (1872). 
 

175 U.S. Bureau of the Census, Tenth Census, Volume 2: Manufactures (1880). 
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176National Register Nomination, Concord Village Historic District, entered 22 
October 1987.  

 
177The listings in Goodspeed’s include the following Hawkins County companies: 

Prince & Co., Chestnut & Chestnut, John Harnn & Co., Chestnut & Fulkerson, James 
White, Dougherty Quarry, Joseph Stamps, and Baltimore Marble Company. Knox County 
companies in Goodspeed’s: Cross Cut Marble Company, Morgan & Williams, John M. 
Ross, Craig & McMullen, T.P. Thomas & Co., R.H. Armstrong & Co., H.H. Brown & Co., 
Harvey & Smith, Franklin Marble Company, Beach & Co., C.D. Ross & Co., and Lima & 
East Tennessee Marble Company.  Knox County marble mills in operation in 1884 were: 
Knoxville Marble Company, Morgan & Williams, Beach & Co., and Crescent Marble 
Company.   

 
178 Goodspeed’s History of Tennessee, illustrated (Nashville: The Goodspeed 

Publishing Company, 1887, reprinted Easley, S.C.: Southern Historical Press), 267. 
 



U.S. Census: Manufactures

Goodspeed’s

179 Historian Sean Patrick Adams has compared the incorporation laws of 
Pennsylvania and Virginia during the 1850s to show how Pennsylvania lawmakers took it 
into their hands to promote the coal mining industry’s growth. Virginia’s decentralized 
charter-granting system left the power in local hands, ultimately slowing and even 
stopping coalmine investment in many counties. Sean Patrick Adams, Old Dominion, 
Industrial Commonwealth (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2004), 173-187.  
At least three of the early marble company incorporations in Tennessee were filed in 
Nashville: the Knoxville Steam Mill Company, organized 29 February 1856 (Knox Deeds, 
Book V, 401); the Sligo Mining and Marble Company & Corporation, chartered 1 
February 1854 (Knox Deeds, Book U, 246); and the Dickeson Mining & Marble Company, 
incorporated 21 February 1856. Montroville W. Dickeson, Report of a geological survey 
and examination upon the lands owned by the Dickeson Marble and Zinc Mining and 
Manufacturing Company of Tennessee (Philadelphia: J. Hufty, Stationer, 139 Chestnut 
Street, Above Fourth, 1856). Enclosed within this document is the following: Copy of an 
Act to Incorporate the Hibernia Mining Company … and others including The Dickeson 
Marble and Zinc Mining Manufacturing Company. Section 21: Be it further enacted, that 
M.W. Dickeson, M.D.  John W. Tilford, and George R. Hazwell, ... Passed Feb. 21st, 1856, 
Neil S. Brown, Speaker of the House of Representatives, Edward S. Cheatham, Speaker 



Goodspeed’s

of the Senate. Knox County Public Library, McClung Historical Collection. By 1899, 
however, the Knoxville Marble Company is described as “a corporation of Knox County,” 
which indicated that counties were later granted the power to charter corporations.  
Knox County Archives, Deeds, Volume 159, 118. 

     
180 Goodspeed’s, 268-70. 
 
181 In addition to the “recovery” of iron by both armies from destroyed or idled 

railroad tracks, resourceful topographical engineers appropriated whatever was 
necessary for the creation of fortifications or battlefield defense. According to Dr. Joan 
Markel, Curator of a permanent Civil War exhibition at the University of Tennessee’s 
Frank H. McClung Museum, Captain Orlando Metcalfe Poe, United States Corps of 
Engineers, used telegraph wire found in Knoxville rail yards not only to secure a pontoon 
bridge across the Tennessee river but also in the creation of the abattoir that so dismally 
frustrated the efforts of Confederate soldiers to reach Fort Sanders in November 1863. 

 



182 The U. S. Census of Manufactures for 1880 recorded that Dougherty’s 
company had been founded in 1864 and capitalized with $8000.  Two other similarly 
well-capitalized firms, Stamps’s and Hasson’s, founded in 1870 and 1872, may have 
presented a challenge to his ambitions. 

  
183 A letter from Walter to Dougherty on 30 September 1857 mentions 

Dougherty’s having just returned from a recent trip [to Tennessee, perhaps?] and asks if 
he has “the bureau tops in hand?” It also mentions having learned from Sisson [Hugh 
Sisson] that they were not being made at his establishment [Sisson’s marble company 
was in Baltimore], which suggests that Dougherty must have had some other means of 
manufacturing Tennessee marble for domestic use.  A postscript mentioned having 
“worked in another small lot of Tennessee,” at the U.S. Capitol.  Architect of the Capitol, 
Thomas U. Walter letterbook. 

 



184 Obituary of  William Dougherty, Washington Evening Star 7 November 1867; 
Condolence letter to Edward D. Dougherty. National Archives and Records 
Administration, RG 42, Washington National Monument Society papers.  

 



 186 Dickinson purchased “Williams Island” from Colonel Thomas L. Williams in 
1869 and developed it into a six hundred acre farm estate. William J. MacArthur,Jr. 
Knoxville: Crossroads of the New South (Knoxville: East Tennessee Historical Society, 
1982), 58.  
 
 187 Interpreting the closed quarries of the once-burgeoning marble industry as a 
cultural landscape, the Ijams Nature Center directs hikers on walking paths through two 
turn-of-the-century quarries, called “Ross’s” and “Mead’s,” with interpretive signage 
that includes photographs of marble workers and their families.  
 



 188 Knox County Public Library, McClung Historical Collection, Adam T. Cottrell 
Papers, folder 13. 
 



189 Other signatories were F.S. Heiskell, C.F. Baker, S.R. Rodgers, Dr. W. Rodgers, 
John Baxter, C.F. Trigg, David Burnett, John Williams, W.H. Rodgers, John Tunnell, W.G. 
Brownlow, and Temple himself. Oliver Perry Temple, East Tennesseans in the Civil War 
(Cincinnati: Robert Clarke Company Publishers, 1899), 340-41. 

 
 190 Located just north of the Ohio River, Cincinnati, which served as a refuge for 
some who wished to escape the conflict, housed a relief organization for East Tennessee 
residents.  Mary U. Rothrock, The French Broad Holston Country (Knoxville: East 
Tennessee Historical Society, 1946), 143-4.   
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191 The 1859 Knoxville city directory listed two other owners: Robert J. McKinney 
and Robert Craighead, noting that the company was capitalized with $50,000, and 
classified it under “marble mill.” Under “Marble Dealers” in the same directory, the only 
names are Geo W. Fagen & Bro. and Sligo Marble and Mining Company, located at the 
corner of Water Street at the ET & VA Railroad, with O.H. Rogan listed as Trustee. In 
addition to being an owner of the Knoxville Steam Mill Company, John J. Craig is also 
listed in this directory as Cashier, Union Bank. Williams’ Knoxville Directory, City Guide, 
and Business Mirror (Knoxville: C.S. Williams, 1859).  

 



 192 T.J. Campbell, Receiver, to The Knoxville Steam Mill Company and A.L. 
Maxwell, Jr., 8 August 1863. Knox County Archives, Knox County Property Deeds. No 
documents have been found that reveal what might have been the relationship of 
Robert Armstrong to Dickeson, Dickeson to John J. Craig or A.A. Barnes, or Craig or A.A. 
Barnes to Armstrong.   
 
 193 In a dispatch to General Braxton Bragg, which was sent soon after federal 
forces burned bridges at Flat Creek and Strawberry Plains, Tennessee, in June 1863, 
Major General S.B. Buckner wrote: “Please grant permission to [A.L.] Maxwell to rebuild 
them at once.”  O.R. Series I, XXIII (2):882; Anthony Leggett Maxwell was a New Yorker 
who had moved to Knoxville and set up an iron manufacturing business before the war. 
MacArthur, 40.   
 



 194 Montroville W. Dickeson, Report of a geological survey and examination upon 
the lands owned by the Dickeson Marble and Zinc Mining and Manufacturing Company 
of Tennessee (Philadelphia: J. Hufty, Stationer, 139 Chestnut Street, Above Fourth, 
1856). Enclosed within this document is the following : Copy of an Act 
To Incorporate the Hibernia Mining Compan … and others including The Dickeson 
Marble and Zinc Mining Manufacturing Company. Section 21:  Be it further enacted, that 
M.W. Dickeson, M.D.  John W. Tilford, and George R. Hazwell ... Passed Feb. 21st, 1856, 
Neil S. Brown, Speaker of the House of Representatives, Edward S. Cheatham, Speaker 
of the Senate. McClung Historical Collection, Knox County Public Library, Vertical file. 

 



 196 Joan Markel, exhibition text for Civil War display, 2010, Frank H. McClung 
Museum, University of Tennessee, Knoxville. 
 

197 William Bruce Wheeler, Knoxville, Tennessee: A Mountain City in the New 
South (Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press, 2005), 3, 5, 8.  

 
198 Hawkins County historian Henry Price cites the authority for this seizure 

under the “Confiscation Acts of 1861-61” in which the U.S. Government claimed that 
“he had engaged in armed rebellion against the United States under and by authority of 
the so-called Confederate States of America.” Price, Hawkins County: A Pictorial History, 
160. 

  
199 Mullett (1834-1890), who had trained under the previous Supervising 

Architect of the U.S. Treasury, architect Isaiah Rogers, was appointed to the position in 
January 1866.  During the two administrations of President Ulysses S. Grant, Mullett 



oversaw the construction of as many as thirty-two federal buildings, including the north 
wing of the Treasury building in Washington, D.C., the Court House and Post Office in 
Knoxville, and the Custom House and Post Office in St. Louis.  Mullett  served in the post 
until 31 December 1874. National Register Nomination 68000053, Old Post Office 
[United States Customs House and Post Office], St. Louis, MO.  

 
200 Obituary of John M. Ross, 15 April 1940, Knoxville News Sentinel. George W. 

Ross and his family moved to Knoxville in 1870, where he entered the marble business.  
His son, John M. Ross (b. 1857), learned the business by working as a quarryman. He 
built a mill on the south bank of the Tennessee River at Island Home. 



 Standard History of Knoxville, 

201 George Ross and William Patrick were also partners in Tennessee Producers 
Marble Company by 1878. 

 
 202 J. Wooldridge, “Manufacturing Interests” in William Rule, ed. Standard 
History of Knoxville, 204. 
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208 Correspondence in the construction records of the J.P. Morgan Library reveals 

that the two companies submitted identical bids on separate letterhead but with the 
same address (6-8 McNutt Building, post office box # 397) to furnish marble blocks and 
slabs for the library on 10 September 1901. On 12 September 1901, John M. Ross, 
Marble Dealer, P.O. Box 398, submitted his own bid for blocks only, but with same 
prices, wording, and terms.  New-York Historical Society, PR042: Morgan Library, Box 28. 
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209John M. Ross was one of the heirs of George W. Ross, co-owner of the 
Knoxville Marble Company with William Patrick.  In 1873 Ross and Patrick took over the 
quarry that had been used for the Knoxville Customs House construction in 1871-72, 
began powering it with steam saw blades and derricks, and used their proximity to the 
river and railroad spur lines to send marble to St. Louis for its Customs House and to 
Albany for the New York State Capitol building. McAdams, Marble Halls (Knoxville: self-
published), 4-5.  
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 213 Two other African Americans, John Wells and Reeves Kyle, along with Sam 
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railroad. Price, Hawkins County, Tennessee: A Pictorial History, 164. 
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217 The Knoxville Marble Company’s William Patrick, who stated that he was a 
resident of St. Louis, granted an interview to the St. Louis Globe Democrat about his 
company’s unsuccessful attempt to secure a contract for tombstones for the federal 
cemeteries. His complaint alleged that his company, the low bidder, was disqualified 
because the original specifications were changed in ways that actually lowered the cost 
for the company that did receive the bid. Although the Knoxville Marble company did 
not succeed in getting the contract, the incident was one of a number of charges that 
finally resulted in Secretary of War William W. Belknap’s resignation.  St. Louis Globe 
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 218 According to National Park Service historian, Charles W. Snell, Alfred P. 
Mullett, who served throughout Grant’s two terms in office, employed three design 
styles during his tenure as Supervising Architect of the Treasury: the smallest group, 
“Greek or Classic Revival” (1869-75) included the north wing of the treasury building in 
Washington, D.C., as well as the U.S. Mint in San Francisco and Post Office/Court 
House/Custom House buildings for Portland Maine and Portland Oregon. The second, 
“Italianate” (1866-78) was chosen for many combination custom house/court 
house/post office buildings dispersed across the country from Maine to Michigan to 
Minnesota to South Carolina and Tennessee. It also included assay offices in Idaho and 
Montana. The third and largest group, “Second Empire” (1867-1885) included the 
monumental State, War, and Navy building in Washington, D.C., and huge Post 
Office/Court House/Custom House buildings in Boston, New York, St. Louis, Cincinnati, 
and Philadelphia.  National Register Nomination, Old Court House [United States 
Customs House and Post Office], St. Louis, MO, entered 17 February 1970.  
 



 219 William Patrick presented this letter from Mullett to War Department 
Secretary W.W. Belknap in his unsuccessful attempt to secure a contract for tombstones 
for the federal cemeteries. St. Louis Globe Democrat 7 March 1876. 
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 221 Most of the small local lines in Tennessee had merged into one of three 
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Nashville, to which V.K. Stevenson had secretively sold the Nashville & Chattanooga in 
1880, and the Illinois Central. Lester, 42-43. 
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18In 1859, Williams’ Knoxville Directory listed the address of the Knoxville Steam 
Mill (Robert J. McKinney, President; R. Craighead, Secretary; and Thos. J. Lyon, John J. 
Craig, A.A. Barnes, Proprietors) as “north of the ET&GA Railroad.” It is the only plain 
“mill” listed, which implies that it might have been used for multiple purposes. The only 
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to appear in city business directories until at least 1884) and the Sligo Mining and 
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